# **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-02-2016

# 

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1371-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MICAH NATHANIEL RENO,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE J. D. WATTS, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-0666 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) larsonsk@doj.state.wi.us

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

#### Issue One

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has ruled that, during a pre-trial criminal investigation, defense counsel's decision not to contact a represented potential witness cannot constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, because it is unclear whether SCR 20:4.2, the no-contact rule, applies in that context. Here, during the pre-trial investigation, Reno's defense counsel did not contact a potential witness, Abby A., because her lawyer forbade the contact. Was Reno's counsel ineffective?

The circuit court held that Reno's counsel rendered ineffective assistance by not contacting the represented potential witness.

# Issue Two

Under SCR 20:4.2, a lawyer cannot communicate with "the subject represented person about representation." The no-contact rule seeks to prevent the disclosure of privileged information adverse represented person's interests. Here, Reno was charged with pimping and keeping a prostitution house, among other charges, and Abby prostituted herself alongside N.B., Reno's victim. At the time of Reno's trial, Abby was subject to a deferred prosecution agreement on her own prostitution charges. Did SCR 20:4.2 preclude Reno's counsel from communicating with Abby about the subject of the representation?

The circuit court held that Reno's counsel should have contacted Abby, because the two representations were for distinct and separate matters.

## Issue Three

In Wisconsin, defense counsel does not render ineffective assistance when counsel gives a reasonable explanation for not calling an impeachment witness at trial. Here, Reno's counsel did not call Abby as an impeachment witness, because Abby's counsel forbade him from contacting her, and because he believed he had already adequately impeached the victim on cross-examination. Did Reno's counsel render ineffective assistance?

The circuit court held that Reno's counsel was ineffective for failing to call Abby as a trial witness to impeach N.B.'s credibility.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not warranted, because the briefs of the parties will adequately develop the law and facts necessary for the disposition of the appeal.

Publication, however, may be warranted. This Court could decide this case by applying well-established legal principles to the facts, but this case also presents issues of broad statewide importance. Publication would provide clarification about when defense counsel may, must, or cannot contact a represented witness, and about what constitutes "the subject matter of the representation," under SCR 20:4.2.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# Pre-trial Proceedings

On July 11, 2013, Reno was charged with several felonies as a repeater: 1) forcible kidnapping; 2) human trafficking; 3) second-degree sexual assault; 4) pimping; and 5) keeping a prostitution house. (1:1-4, A-App. 101-04.) Reno was bound over for trial after his supervision was revoked. (46:3-7; 47:4-17; 48:7.)

Reno's defense witness list included Abby. (8:1-2.) At the January 30, 2014 final pretrial hearing, the State argued that Abby's statements were inadmissible, "irrelevant," or "had no real basis[] in fact," and the court agreed it would need offers of proof at trial. (50:5-7.)

# Trial and sentencing

On February 5, 2014, after a three-day jury trial, Reno was convicted on all counts. (11.)

On March 14, 2014, the court sentenced Reno to 33 years of initial confinement and 12 years of extended supervision. (24:1-3, A-App. 105-07; 59:59-60).

# Postconviction proceedings

On October 7, 2015, Reno filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel. (31:1-11.) Reno argued his counsel should have presented Abby's testimony because it allegedly contradicted the victim's testimony. (*Id.*)

On January 22, 2016, a *Machner*<sup>1</sup> hearing was held. (60:1-78, A-App. 108-85.)

On April 28, 2016, the circuit court issued an order reversing Reno's conviction and granting a new trial. (43:1-9, A-App. 186-94.)

The State appeals. (44:1-2.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Trial

N.B., a recovering heroin addict, had been sober for two weeks, but was homeless and living "[h]ouse to house, trying to get money for a hotel room." (52:30-35; 54:14-16.) She panhandled at intersections, holding up a "homeless and hungry" sign. (52:36-37.)

Near the end of May of 2013, N.B. was near the Wal-Mart on 27th when Reno and Abby pulled up in Reno's vehicle, although N.B. did not know them. (52:36-40.) Reno left after N.B.'s friend "clearly stated" they did not do drugs. (52:40-41.)

The next day, N.B. was panhandling in a different area, by 15th and Lincoln. (52:42, 48.) Reno, now alone, drove up, and told N.B. he could get her whatever she wanted, but N.B. denied she had a drug problem. (52:42-45; 54:18.) Reno said he could help her with food and a place to stay, but N.B. told him "no, thank you," and "continued to walk." (52:45.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Reno exited the vehicle, and grabbed N.B.'s upper left arm to pull her inside. (52:45-47, 128.) N.B. tried to fight back and pull away. (52:46.) She could not scream because she "was in such shock." (*Id.*) She could not get out because Reno restrained her. (52:47.) During the ride to the Roadway Inn, Reno told N.B., "[Y]ou don't know who you're dealing with. You don't want to run." (52:47-50.) At the hotel, Reno grabbed N.B. out of the vehicle, and Abby let them inside. (52:49.) Abby went into the bathroom to "finish getting ready." (52:49-51.)

Reno offered N.B. heroin "right away," within an hour. (52:49-53.) He said "it was okay because the other girl did it too." (52:50.) Reno blocked the door. (52:50-51.) N.B. declined the heroin because she had been clean for two weeks, but Reno told her "that's the only way I'm going to be able to deal with what was coming next." (52:51.)

Reno got "more aggressive in his voice" when she kept declining. (52:52, 129-30.) N.B. "gave in," because "I don't know what he is capable of." (52:52.) N.B. injected herself with the heroin and paraphernalia Reno provided. (52:52-53.) N.B. got "high." (52:53.) Reno gave her some food, and the three of them went to a park to take Abby's pictures. (52:53-55.) They met Reno's niece at the park. (54:19-20.)

Reno explained to N.B. "how things worked," telling her "he takes pictures and he writes stuff down on this website about you. And people call and they have you do sexual things with them for money." (52:53-54.) N.B. realized Reno wanted her to prostitute, but told him she did not want to. (52:54.)

After Reno took Abby's photos, they "drove around and we waited for phone calls. And [Abby] just explained to me how things worked." (52:55.) N.B. explained: "[Abby] said

that if I just listened it would be easier than fighting back with him. And then I would have his trust. That when I go to clients, I don't refuse what they want. What they pay for is what they get." (*Id*.)

Reno said it was N.B.'s turn, because she needed to make money. (52:56.) They went to the Harley Davidson museum, and Reno told N.B. to take off her shirt and pants so that N.B. was in her bra and panties. (*Id.*) Reno took pictures, posing N.B. and telling her to lie on the bench and smile for the camera. (*Id.*) N.B. did not recall telling Detective Linda Stott that Abby provided her with a bathing suit for that photo. (54:22.)

N.B. knew the photos would be used for prostitution advertisements. (52:56-57.) When asked why she did not run away, N.B. replied, "I was too [scared] to run. He told me you don't know who I'm dealing with. And I don't know what he's capable of. And if I ever tried to run, he would come after me and my family." (52:57.) She thought about running all the time. (*Id.*)

After Reno took N.B.'s photos, he posted them on Backpage for escorting advertisements. (52:57.) N.B. and Abby previewed the photos and ads before Reno "fully posted them." (52:58.) The jury saw various pictures that Reno took on his phone for the ads, including N.B.'s Harley Davidson photo and photos from the hotel. (52:102-105.)

That same day, N.B. got her first call on Reno's phone, and went on her first prostitution date. (52:58, 102-03.) Thereafter, N.B. and Abby engaged in prostitution "all day, every day." (52:58.) Reno pushed them to go to the client's houses, but sometimes they came to the hotel. (*Id.*) Reno's phone records contained thousands of text messages setting up dates. (54:58-59.)

Reno usually took N.B. and Abby to the dates. (52:59.) Both women rode along, and one woman would go in. (*Id.*) Reno and the other woman would wait in the car. (*Id.*) Sometimes N.B. would drive when Reno was gone, but she never went alone because she always went with Abby. (52:59-60.)

N.B. testified that others perceived Abby to be Reno's girlfriend, but "[i]t was never really ever like a boyfriend-girlfriend thing." (54:23.) It was just a story to tell if police ever got involved. (*Id.*) Reno never introduced Abby as his girlfriend, only as "Daisy." (54:23-24.) N.B. did not view them as boyfriend-girlfriend, because Abby was also prostituting herself. (54:55.) N.B. and Abby had to call Reno "daddy." (54:60.)

N.B. drove Reno to and from work, but only went to one social event with him. (52:115-16; 54:28; 57:54-60.) Reno's aunt saw N.B. there, and talked with her for about 45 minutes. (57:11-12.) N.B. never mentioned she had been kidnapped, but looked "very unhealthy," and had "herpetic sores" all over. (57:13, 16, 23.) Reno's aunt was concerned, knowing N.B. was homeless, but N.B. appeared to be having fun and talked on her cell phone. (57:13-18.) Another witness said she was "put off" by N.B.'s demeanor, but N.B. moved freely about. (57:27-28.)

N.B. drove to errands, Abby's grandmother's house, and Reno's sister Kelsey's house, but N.B. was still "terrified" of Reno. (54:29-31, 57.) N.B. drove Reno's brother and niece places, and visited Reno's friend at his house and at a restaurant. (57:33-34, 41-42.) Reno's brother and friend did not know Abby and N.B. were prostitutes. (57:35-39, 46.)

Eventually, Reno lost trust in N.B. because she and Abby used prostitution money to buy heroin, and Reno found out. (52:115-16.) As N.B. testified, Reno "hit us both. And he told me that he didn't trust me to drive the vehicle anymore. So I no longer had the vehicle privilege." (52:116.) Reno told them "people would be watching from a distance and would let him know what was going on." (52:117.) When Reno worked nights, someone came to sit in the hotel room to "make sure that we weren't doing something that he did not want us to not be doing." (*Id.*) After that, the dates came to the hotel. (*Id.*)

N.B. performed any sex acts that the prostitution dates wanted, including intercourse, fellatio, or anal sex, which cost more. (52:60-62.) They charged \$100 for one-half hour, and \$150 for one hour, and collected the money upfront. (*Id.*) They used text messages to communicate with each other while on dates. (52:60-62.)

N.B. prostituted herself twice per day, at minimum, but mostly five times per day, although some days she did not. (52:62-63; 54:25; 56:54.) On a typical day, they got "phone calls periodically," went on dates, and took pictures for new postings. (52:62.)

N.B.'s Backpage pseudonym was "Violet," but Reno's aunt and friend never heard N.B. called "Violet." (52:63; 57:12, 41.) Reno had "rule[s]" that the dates needed to wear condoms and pay before the sex acts. (52:64.) N.B. would hide the money in her purse, so clients would not steal it. (*Id.*) N.B. broke the condom "rule" once, because her client would not give her the money otherwise, and she was "too scared to go back to [Reno] without any money and not complete the date." (52:66-67.)

After the dates, they always gave the money to Reno. (52:64.) One time, Abby took the money, and when Reno found out:

He said are you trying to steal my money? And he called her ... the B word. And he proceeded to hit her. And I was sitting on the corner of the motel room. And he just said you two are now one. What she does, you do. What you do, she does. What she does wrong, you do wrong. You guys are together. So because she got hit, I got hit.

(52:65.) Reno hit N.B. in the face, and kicked her in the ribs while she was on the ground. (*Id.*) N.B. had bruises along her rib cage and a red hand print on her face from the beating. (52:66.)

After they got money from clients, they would buy "more green dot cards for more postings," which were prepaid Visa cards from Walgreens containing \$14 each, to post two \$7 Backpage ads. (52:64-67.) N.B. sometimes posted on Backpage herself, but Reno told her what to post, and when. (52:67-68.) Reno gave her credit card information, aliases, Social Security numbers, and birth dates to use for the prepaid cards. (*Id.*)

Three times daily throughout May and June of 2013, N.B. used heroin that Reno acquired and paid for. (52:68.) Reno's friend Casey also gave them crack. (52:69-71.) N.B. got syringes from the needle exchange. (52:74-75.)

Reno withheld drugs from N.B. until she prostituted herself. (52:70-71.) One time, N.B. was "sick" and had gotten a prostitution call, so she asked Reno if she could get her "afternoon dose before the date." (52:71.) Reno took her into Casey's room, and told her to hold her skirt and panties down. (*Id.*) N.B. said, "[N]o, can I do this first; I really don't feel good," and Reno flung the heroin onto the floor, telling

her, "there's your afternoon dose and you can stay sick." (*Id.*) After she went on the date, Reno gave N.B. her "afternoon dose." (*Id.*) "Sick" meant she needed heroin. (52:71-72.)

Another time, N.B. told Reno she would start feeling withdrawal symptoms halfway through the date without her "night dose," but Reno said she had to wait and come back with the money before she could have it. (52:72.)

Reno also forced N.B. to have sex with him. (52:72.) He would drop his pants, tell her to get down on her knees, and tell her he was teaching her how to "perform better." (52:72-73 (emphasis in original).) N.B. did not agree to having sex with Reno, and would "throw an attitude" and shake her head no. (52:73.) Reno would tell her, "You need to lose your attitude. And he would raise his hand at me. And I would get scared, so I would just do it." (*Id.*)

One time, Reno bent N.B. over the side of the bed, pulled down her sweatpants, and "stuck his dick in me from behind." (52:73.) Abby was in the shower. (52:74.) Reno put his hands on N.B.'s back so she could not stand up straight. (*Id.*)

N.B. disclosed that particular assault to Detective Stott as one example, but said it happened "multiple times." (54:32.) When Detective Stott asked if N.B. and Reno were sexually active, "[N.B.'s] response was only when he forced me, and then she began to cry." (56:55.) Detective Stott did not ask N.B. to recount every incident, knowing Reno had trafficked N.B. for one-and-one-half months, meaning that Reno committed "multiple crimes," including prostitution, batteries, and sexual assaults. (56:67-68.)

N.B. used Reno's phone to set up dates, because Reno had taken N.B.'s phone away. (52:75-76.) She could not use

her phone anyway, because Reno "watched my every move." (52:76.) If she was on the phone, Reno asked who it was and told her to get off. (*Id.*)

Reno used N.B.'s LG slider phone, and N.B. used Reno's Kyocera phone. (52:76-79.) Reno sometimes allowed N.B. to use her own phone when her mother, Therese, called, but limited N.B.'s contact with Therese because N.B. would cry every time, and then N.B. "wouldn't be able to go on a date and make his money." (52:80.) Reno told N.B. that Therese "needed to stop calling," because when Therese called, her "whole day is shot." (*Id.*)

N.B.'s mother, Therese, got concerned that N.B. would not return calls. (54:63-64.) Therese paid for N.B.'s phone and could see from phone records that N.B. had written very few texts, even though N.B. was a "big texter." (54:64-66.) N.B.'s brother, Ryan, testified that "all of a sudden there's no text messages and real short phone calls" from odd numbers from burner phones. (54:93-95.) N.B. usually sent about 2000 texts per month. (52:87.)

In June of 2013, N.B. called Therese at least three times to arrange to go home on Father's Day, but N.B. later cancelled. (54:25-26, 76, 83-84, 89-90.) N.B. testified that she texted her mom that a "pimp" had picked her up and she wanted to come home, but Therese testified that she only had telephone conversations with N.B., never texts. (54:27, 34-35, 67-68, 87-90.)

On June 25, 2013, N.B. posted on Backpage at 12:03 a.m. (54:35-37.) She also texted her brother at 1:15 a.m., saying, "I'm fine ... kind of." (54:38.) After N.B. went with Reno to see his probation officer around 8:30 a.m., Therese kept calling N.B.'s phone. (52:80-82; 54:34-35.) When Reno went to a friend's house, N.B. called Therese

from Reno's phone, telling Therese "she needed to stop calling because I was getting in trouble and he wouldn't stop yelling at me." (52:80-81.) When Reno returned, N.B. hung up, but Therese kept calling back. (*Id.*)

Therese and Ryan had a series of short phone conversations with N.B. that morning, but N.B. kept hanging up. (54:68-77, 104-05.) Therese asked if N.B. was being held against her will. (52:81.) N.B. said, "please, I need your help. I need to come home. I don't want to be here anymore. I'm scared and you have to hurry." (*Id.*) Reno threatened to kill N.B.'s whole family. (52:81-82.) N.B. sounded afraid. (54:68-69.)

Therese told N.B. to get out and get home safe. (52:82.) Ryan asked N.B. where she was. (*Id.*) N.B. replied she was at the Roadway Inn, near 27th and Layton. (*Id.*) At 9:24 a.m., N.B. texted Ryan from Reno's phone, asking for help in getting home. (54:40-42.) Therese called the police. (54:69-70, 86-87.)

Reno saw that N.B. had texted her brother, got really angry, and broke N.B.'s phone. (52:82-84.) Reno gave N.B. his phone, and forced her to lie to her brother that she "was just high and homesick." (52:83-86; 54:42-45.)

N.B. and Ryan then exchanged a series of text messages on Reno's phone. (52:95-102; 54:43-44.) When Ryan asked N.B. what room she was in, N.B. replied, "How's dad doing," because Reno had already found out that she was contacting Ryan, and she wanted to divert Reno's attention in order to get home safely. (52:97-99.) She told Ryan, "[t]here is no guy," that she was "just high" and did not know what she was saying. (52:98-99.) She texted, "I'm fine. Don't worry about it." (52:99.) N.B. wanted to convince Ryan she was fine, because Reno was still looking at every

message. (52:99-100.) Her last message said, "I got to get away from," but stopped. (52:101.)

Ryan knew something was wrong because they had exchanged thousands of texts before, and N.B.'s June 25 texts did not seem normal and were not "adding up." (54:100-02.) He received texts from a 414 number, but N.B.'s phone was a 262 number. (56:6.)

Ryan told N.B. it was too late, because the police had traced her phone and were already on their way. (52:83; 54:46-47, 96-98, 106-12.) Ryan had "two phones going," one to police and one to N.B. (54:105.) Around 10:30 a.m., both N.B.'s phone and Reno's phone "ping[ed]" at the hotel. (56:6-16.)

Reno left the hotel with N.B. and Abby in a hurry, saying he wanted to be gone if the police came. (52:85.) Reno instructed N.B. to "get the cops uninvolved and call him when they're gone." (52:86.) Reno dropped them off near the Grand Avenue Mall. (52:85.) Police logged a "ping" from Reno's phone near the mall around 11:32 a.m., although the ping itself could have occurred earlier. (56:16-17.)

While walking toward the mall, N.B. talked to Ryan, and pretended she was okay. (52:86.) When Reno was away, N.B. started crying, and Ryan knew something was wrong, because N.B. never cried that hard and had only sent him five texts that whole month. (52:87; 54:99.) N.B. was scared. (54:102.)

N.B. entered the mall and told Ryan, "I need you to come save me. I need your help. I am here. I don't want to be here. Please hurry. I'm scared and I don't know where he is." (52:87.) She said she did not have much time. (52:88.)

The police traced N.B.'s location at the mall, and told N.B. to run across the street to the Federal Building. (52:88; 54:70-71.) N.B. said she could not go outside alone, because "I don't know where [Reno] is and I don't want to die." (52:88.) Ryan heard someone in the background saying she could not go "because they'll hurt my kid," but the police told N.B. to leave her friend and find someone to walk her across the street. (52:88-89; 54:105-06, 116.)

N.B. was "crying hysterically," but a group of men helped her across when she told them, "[I]t's life or death. I'm going to die today if I don't get home." (52:88-89.) N.B. ran into the Federal Building around 12:02 p.m., and went to the security desk, hyperventilating. (52:89; 56:17.) The security officer called the Milwaukee police, and N.B. waited until police arrived. (52:89.)

On June 25, 2013, around 10:00 a.m., Officer Jerry Whiteley responded to a welfare check at the Roadway Motel on a "possible abduction, false imprisonment." (52:20-23.) He went to the Federal Building after later learning N.B. was there. (52:21-24.) N.B. was "[s]haken," "scared," and "concerned for her family." (52:24.) He searched N.B.'s purse and found "a green dot receipt," drug paraphernalia for heroin and crack cocaine, flavored lubricants, and four needles. (52:24-28.)

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