RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **01-27-2017**C O U R T O F A P P E A L S
DISTRICT I CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
Case No. 2016AP1371-OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

MICAH NATHANIEL RENO,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A
POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY,
THE HONORABLE J.D. WATTS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ANGELA C. KACHELSKI State Bar No. 01020860 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

THE KACHELSKI LAW FIRM, S.C. 7101 N. Green Bay Ave. Suite 6A
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53209 (414) 352-330

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The circuit court found that trial counsel's performance was deficient as he failed to subpoena or call a key witness at trial. The court also found that this deficient performance prejudiced the defendant-respondent as the jury never heard the testimony of an eye witness to the events whose testimony would have impacted the credibility of the complaining witness. Did the circuit court properly grant the motion for a new trial?

After a *Machner* hearing, the court granted the motion for new trial.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not warranted as this case involves well-established legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

Any additional facts will be cited in the Argument portion of this brief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION GRANTING THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IS BASED ON THE LAW AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents a mixed question of fact and law.

State v. McDowell, 2004 WI 70, ¶ 31, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681

N.W.2d 500, cert. Denied, 543 U.S. 928 (2004). The trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. The ultimate determination of whether the attorney's performance falls below the constitutional minimum, however, is a question of law subject to independent review. Id.

B. THE TEST FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The United States Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) established a two-prong test of ineffective assistance of counsel.

A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require

reversal of a conviction or death sentence has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. . . Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

Id. at 687. In order for the deficient performance to rise to the level of a constitutional violation, "the deficient performance must undermine our confidence in the fairness of the trial and the reliability of the result." State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711, 714 (1985).

C. TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AS HE FAILED TO CALL AN EYEWITNESS.

The circuit court found that trial counsel's performance was deficient as he failed to call Abby Anderson, the only other eyewitness to the events, at trial. The court found that Attorney Eichenlaub's decision not to call Abby Anderson as a witness was not a strategic decision. (R. 43:8, R.App. 108). The court reasoned that first, it was not a "decision" not to call Abby as Mr. Eichenlaub felt constrained by Attorney Valdez's denial of access to her and second, that his failure to act was based on a misapplication of SCR 20:4.2. (R.43:8, R.App. 108).

The court then found that:

This case presents the same issues and should be decided the same was as those discussed in *State v. Jenkins*, 355 Wis. 2d 180, ¶42 (2014). In Jenkins, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the failure to call a witness constituted deficient performance because the witness was an eyewitness to the crime and counsel knew the witness's testimony would impeach a key prosecution witness. The record also showed no reasonable trial strategy for not calling the witness. (R.43:8, R.App. 108).

Attorney Eichenlaub knew Abby Anderson was an eyewitness to many of the allegations against Reno and he wanted her testimony at trial. (R.59:42-43, 62). He believed Anderson would impeach the testimony of N.B. and impact her credibility. (R. 59:62,66). Anderson testified that she wanted to testify at trial, was available to testify and would have testified if she had been subpoenaed. (R.59:19). All of these factors were important to the circuit court's decision that trial counsel's performance was deficient.

D. THE LAW IN WISCONSIN REGARDING SCR 20:4.2 IS NOT UNSETTLED.

The state argues that the law in Wisconsin regarding SCR 20:4.2 is unsettled as it applies to pre-trial investigations and relies on *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74,

281 Wis. 2d, 595, 698 N.W.2d 583 as supporting authority.

The law in Wisconsin regarding SCR 20:4.2 is not unsettled. SCR 20:4.2 states that a lawyer "shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order." The circuit court in applying this Rule found that Attorney Valdez represented Abby Anderson on a separate and distinct matter then the matter on which Mr. Eichenlaub represented Mr. Reno. (R.43:5, R.App. 105). Specifically, that Anderson was charged with misdemeanor counts of prostitution and cocaine possession which were separated by different dates, locations and subject matters from Reno's case. Additionally, Anderson was not a codefendant and as the state asserted at the motion hearing it was unlikely she would be prosecuted.

The facts of *Maloney* are distinguishable from the facts in this case. The state claims that the law regarding the applicability of SCR 20:4.2 to **the pre- charging criminal investigative setting** is unsettled and the court in *Maloney* did not make a decision regarding that question. So, the state argues Mr. Eichenlaub cannot be

ineffective for failing to know unsettled principles of law. However, in this case, the issue is not the applicability of SCR 20:4.2 to pre-charging criminal investigations but rather to the ability of an attorney to interview an eyewitness in a criminal proceeding. The law is clear and has not evolved regarding whether or not the subject matter in which a person is represented is the same. The law is also clear that Attorney Eichenlaub could have subpoenaed Anderson and then asked the circuit court for a ruling regarding any Fifth Amendment rights she might have. He did not do so which also constitutes deficient performance.

As the circuit court pointed out in its decision, even if Abby Anderson was a potential codefendant, the reasoning in *Grievance Committee for Southern District of New York v. Simels*, 48 F.3d 640 (2nd Cir. 1995) supports the conclusion that Eichenlaub had a duty to pursue Anderson as a witness and that the "overriding concern of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel and a lawyer's duty of advocacy outweighs the disciplinary rule." (R.43:7, R.App. 107).

The state argues that Abby Anderson was a represented "person" and that she did not need to be a "party" in

Reno's case to receive the no-contact rule's protection.

(See Brief at p. 29). The state argues that Attorney

Eichenlaub's decision not to pursue Abby Anderson was

reasonable as she was a represented "person". This

argument fails. Abby Anderson was not a party and was a

"person" represented in a different matter. So the

distinction does not make a difference in this case. The

state also ignores the fact that Abby Anderson wanted to

testify. Mr. Eichenlaub was told she wanted to testify by

Mrs. Reno who was in contact with Ms. Anderson during the

months prior to trial. (R. 59:31, 46). Despite knowing

that this material witness wanted to testify, he failed to

subpoena her or pursue a court ruling.

E. ABBY ANDERSON WAS NOT A VULNERABLE WITNESS

The state argues that the no-contact rule applies whenever "vulnerable witnesses" need to be protected from disclosing privileged information adverse to their interests. (State's Brief at p. 30). The state relies on In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Kinast, 192 Wis. 2d 36, 530 N.W.2d 387 (1995) and In re Guardianship of Jennifer M., 2010 WI App 8, 323 Wis. 2d 126, 779 N.W.2d 436. Both Kinast and Jennifer M. are distinguishable from

this case. In *Kinast*, the attorney interviewed children of a women he represented in divorce proceedings without the consent of the Guardian ad litem. In *Jennifer M.*, the issue surrounded the rights of the adult ward and whether or not she could be interviewed by the guardian ad litem without an attorney present after a court ordered her to do so. In both of these cases there were vulnerable witnesses – children and an adult ward of the state. In *Jennifer M.*, the court had issued an order stating she could be interviewed.

Abby Anderson was not a "vulnerable witness". She wanted to testify at trial. She came to the sentencing and told the court that she had wanted to testify and that she would have supported Mr. Reno. She testified at the post-conviction motion hearing and was very clear that she understood her rights and that she wanted to testify. This was not a "vulnerable" witness.

The state claims that the circuit court erred by not applying Kinast and Jennifer M., as "those cases represent the prevailing professional norms in Wisconsin, and also support the no-contact rule's application here." (State's brief at p. 32). That assertion is incredulous. The circuit court did not address these cases because they do

not apply to this situation. Moreover, the state argues "although Abby claimed she would have testified in Reno's favor, Abby's expressly stated interest in helping Reno was not necessarily in Abby's best interest." (State's brief at p. 36). There is nothing in this record to support that conclusion. In fact, the state at the post-conviction motion hearing stated that he did not think the state would have charged Abby. (R.59:7-8). Abby was a competent adult who wanted to testify at trial. There is no indication that she fits into the "vulnerable" witness as described in Kinast or Jennifer M.

Another difference between the *Kinast* and *Jennifer M*. cases is that they both dealt with attorney's interviewing the vulnerable witness prior to any court proceeding. In this case, the adult competent witness wanted to testify and actually spoke with family members telling them she wanted to testify and then came to sentencing and made statements about her desire to testify. She testified at the post-conviction hearing that she was a willing and available witness for trial. (R.59:19-20).

Even if this court determines that Abby Anderson was a vulnerable witness, it does not mean that trial counsel's failure to subpoena Abby or bring her to court was not

deficient. It was. Trial counsel could have subpoenaed Abby and had the court make a ruling as to whether she had any Fifth Amendment issues prior to her testimony. This would have addressed any concern that she was a vulnerable witness.

The circuit court applied the correct law and found that trial counsel's performance was deficient. That decision was properly based on the law and should be upheld.

II. THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL DID PREJUDICE MR. RENO.

In determining whether or not Mr. Reno was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance, the court looked to the decision in *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, 355 Wis. 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. "To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show that, absent defense trial counsel's errors, there was a reasonable probability of a different result. Our prejudice analysis is necessarily fact-dependent. Whether counsel's deficient performance satisfies the prejudice prong of Strickland depends upon the totality of the circumstances at trial." *Jenkins* at ¶¶ 49-50.

At the post-conviction motion hearing, Attorney Eichenlaub testified that the theory of defense was that N.B.'s actions were not consistent with the allegations. (R.59:47). The goal of the defense was to attack the credibility of N.B. This case rested completely on the testimony of N.B. as did the defense in *Jenkins*.

As the Wisconsin Supreme Court found in Jenkins, the failure of trial counsel to call an eye witness constituted deficient performance, even when there could be bias, as the eyewitness testimony goes to the core of the defense.

Id. at ¶ 41. See also, Toliver v. Pollard, 688 F.3d 853, 862 (7th Cir, 2012), Goodman v. Bertrand, 467 F.3d 1022, 1030 (7th Cir. 2006) and State v. White, 2004 WI App 78, 271 Wis. 2d 742, 680 N.W.2d 362. Abby Anderson's testimony goes to the "core of the defense." In order for the deficient performance to rise to the level of a constitutional violation, "the deficient performance must undermine our confidence in the fairness of the trial and the reliability of the result." State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711, 714 (1985). That is clearly the case here.

The state argues that the failure of counsel to further impeach an already impeached witness does not

render ineffective assistance of counsel. (State's brief at p. 37). This assertion completely ignores the fact that Abby Anderson was an eyewitness to almost all of the events and ignores the decision in *Jenkins*, *supra*.

Additionally the state argues that "under the prevailing professional norms in Wisconsin, . . . Attorney Eichenlaub's obligation to zealously defend Reno did not obligate him to litigate Abby's Fifth Amendment privilege." Pursuant to SCR 20:1.3, Attorney Eichenlaub had a duty to "act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing" his client. That included pursuing the only other eyewitness to these events who was willing to testify.

The state calls the circuit court's finding that Abby Anderson would not have incriminated herself or invoked her Fifth Amendment privilege at trial illogical. (State's brief at p. 40). The circuit court made findings of fact and those findings included that "Abby Anderson did not believe she had a Fifth Amendment privilege regarding her testimony about the Reno case. She declined the court's opportunity to have an attorney appointed to represent her at Reno's post-conviction hearing. (R.43:5, R.App. 105). The trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed

unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. McDowell, 2004 WI 70, ¶ 31, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500, cert. Denied, 543 U.S. 928 (2004). The trial court's findings are based on the record and the state's argument that Abby Anderson would have asserted her Fifth Amendment rights is speculation and not supported.

Finally, the state argues that there is no reasonable probability that Abby Anderson's testimony would have changed the result of Reno's trial. (State's brief at 41). There were only three people who knew what happened during the month that N.B. stayed at the motel with Abby Anderson. The jury heard from N.B., but never got to hear from Abby. This testimony was highly relevant and the fact that it was not presented to the jury calls into question the fairness of the trial and the reliability of the result.

As the circuit court pointed out, the court in Jenkins held that when an eyewitness, who would corroborate the defendant's theory was not presented to the jury due to trial counsel's error, it is prejudicial to the defendant.

See Jenkins, supra, 355 Wis. 2d at ¶¶ 53 & 61. Abby

Anderson was really the only other person who could testify regarding the events with which Mr. Reno was charged. Her testimony would have supported his defense. The failure to

call her absolutely prejudiced the defendant.

The circuit court held: "Based upon the totality of the circumstances, this court finds that Attorney Eichenlaub's failure to call Abby Anderson prejudiced the defendant and deprived the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result was reliable." (R.43:9, R.App. 109). The defendant-respondent agrees with the circuit court's findings.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant-Respondent restfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the circuit court.